
 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Agenda - Monday, April 15, 2019 - 6:00 PM 

 
 

Call to Order 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance lead by Boy Scout Troop 8 of the 1st Presbyterian Church Texarkana, 

Arkansas, and Invocation given by Scout Ben Soyars.   

PRESENTATION(S) 

1. Proclamation Supporting City’s participation in the National Historic Preservation Month 

presented to Historic District Commissioner David Jones.  

CONSENT 

2. Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting April 1, 2019. (CCD) 

REGULAR 

3. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to contract with Sanitation Solutions to 

provide solid waste disposal (landfill) services to the City. (PWD) Public Works Director 

Tyler Richards 

4. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend the residential hauler contracts 

with Edmondson’s Trash Service and Richardson Waste Inc. (PWD) Public Works Director 

Tyler Richards 

5. An Ordinance Amending the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Code of Ordinances, Solid Waste 

Ordinance Sec. 22-28 – Disposal of Commercial Solid Waste, Sec. 22-30 – Proof of Landfill 

Disposal by Commercial Haulers and Sec. 22-31 - Penalty for Disposal of Solid Waste at a 

Landfill Not Under Contract with the City. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards 

This ordinance requires an emergency clause: An emergency clause requires a separate 

and distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by 

the board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

NEXT MEETING DATE: May 3, 2019 

ADJOURN 

 

 

1



 

2019 City Calendar 

 

Gateway Farmer’s Market – Every Tuesday, Thursday and Saturday 

Chill Out Day - Monday, April 15, 2019 

9th Annual RailFest - Saturday, May 11, 2019 

Hungers No Game 5K/Fun Run - Saturday, May 18, 2019 

Bright Star Baptist Church Anniversary Homecoming -  

Saturday, May 25, 2019 

Sparks in the Park - Saturday, June 29, 2019 

  

2



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting April 1, 2019. (CCD) 

AGENDA DATE: 04/15/2019 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Minutes 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Approval of meeting minutes. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Approval of meeting minutes. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

The City Clerk recommends approval. 

EXHIBITS: Meeting minutes. 

 

3



 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Monday, April 01, 2019 - 6:00 PM 

 
 

Mayor Allen Brown called the meeting to order. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Ward 1 Assistant Mayor Linda Teeters, Ward 2 Director 

Laney J. Harris, Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, Ward 4 Director Travis Odom, Ward 5 

Director Barbara S. Miner, and Ward 6 Director Terri Peavy. 

ALSO PRESENT: City Manager Dr. Kenny Haskin, City Attorney George Matteson, and 

Deputy City Clerk Jenny Narens.  City Clerk Heather Soyars was absent. 

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance given by Assistant Mayor Linda Teeters. 

PRESENTATION(S) 

1.    City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service Awards. (CCD) 

  Mayor Brown presented an award and pin to Kathy Dotson and William Engledowel for five 

  years of service with Texarkana Water Utilities (TWU).    

CONSENT 

Director Harris requested Item 2 Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting March 18, 2019. 

(CCD), be removed form the Consent Agenda and added to the Regular Agenda for discussion.   

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda made by Assistant Mayor Teeters, Seconded by Director  

Odom. 

 

City Attorney George Matteson said he had one comment regarding the Mutual Aid Agreement,  

there would be a change in the packet, deleting the general liability.   

  

The motion carried unanimously, and the Mayor declared the Consent Agenda approved.  The 

item approved were:  

3. Resolution No. 2019-14 authorized the execution of Mutual Aid Agreement for Fire 

Protection with the Miller County Volunteer Fire Department. (TAFD) 

REGULAR 

2. Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting March 18, 2019. (CCD) 

 Director Harris wanted it to be known the previous minutes of March 18, 2019, meeting did 

not include important statements he said. 

4



 

 Mayor Brown said it would be noted in the minutes tonight.   

 [April 15,2019 - Director Harris would like his statement during the March 18, 2019, Board 

meeting concerning asbestos under the gym floor of the Boys and Girls Club recorded in the 

minutes.] 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

Dan Johnson, 3820 Preston Street, said he wanted to see if the City would put signs out before 

Highland Hill Road, instructing the big trucks entering Cooper Tire must turn at the red light.  

Boots Thomas, 5807 Deerwood, said he was glad to see the City being proactive about the lights 

poles on the interstate.  He said the lights not working was a driving safety issue and it made our 

City look abandoned.   

NEXT MEETING DATE: Monday, April 15, 2019 

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Director Odom, Seconded by Director Hollibush.   

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Teeters, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, 

Director Odom, Director Miner, Director Peavy. 

The meeting adjourned at 6:25 PM. 

APPROVAL of the minutes on this 15
th

 day of April, 2019. 

 

________________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

 

 

5



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to contract with 

Sanitation Solutions to provide solid waste disposal (landfill) services to 

the City. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards 

AGENDA DATE: 04/15/2019 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works Department 

PREPARED BY: Tracie Lee, Assistant Public Works Director 

REQUEST: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to contract with 

Sanitation Solutions. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: This item will be approved by a resolution; therefore, it will not need an 

emergency clause. 

SUMMARY: The City’s landfill contract with Waste Management expires on April 

30
th

.  Due to this the City advertised for request for proposals (RFP) for 

solid waste disposal services on March 3, 2019.     

Three proposals were submitted from Sanitation Solutions Inc., Waste 

Management of Texas, Inc. and Waste Corporation of Arkansas, LLC. 

The below rates were provided. 

 Sanitation Solutions Inc. – $16.00 a ton for the duration of the 

five-year contract inclusive of fuel surcharges. 

 Waste Management of Texas, Inc. – Option I: $35.50 a ton for 

the duration of the five-year contract inclusive of fuel surcharges.  

Option II: $33.50 a ton with a $1.00 increase annually. 

 Waste Corporation of Arkansas, LLC - $25.00 a ton inclusive of 

fuel surcharges with a 2% increase annually. 

Based on the results staff recommended to the Solid Waste Committee 

on March 25, 2019 the landfill contract be awarded to Sanitation 

Solutions as the new rate will save the City approximately $1.08 million 

during the life of the contract when compared to the new rates quoted 

from Waste Management as they are the City’s current provider.  

The Solid Waste Committee voted unanimously to submit Sanitation 

Solutions Inc. proposal to the Board of Directors for approval. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0.00 

6



AMOUNT BUDGETED: $0.00 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0.00 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

City Manager and staff recommend board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, Request for Proposal, Sanitation Solutions Proposal, Rate 

Comparison for Five Year Period, Draft Disposal Contract and City 

Manager Letter. 

 

 

7



RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

WHEREAS, upon advertisement a low bid for solid waste disposal services 

(landfill) was submitted by Sanitation Solutions, Inc. of $16.00 per ton ($20/ton for tires 

and sludge) for a five-year period (subject to certain termination provisions); and  

WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Committee, the City Manager and City Staff 

recommend approval; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to 

enter into a contract, in form and substance acceptable to the City Manager after 

consultation with the City Attorney, with Sanitation Solutions, Inc., to provide for and 

procure solid waste disposal services for the price and term set forth above.      

PASSED AND APPROVED this 15
th

 day of April, 2019. 

 

        ______________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

________________________________ 

George Matteson, City Attorney 

8



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

January 833.63 762.19 783.9 932.14 817.53

February 707.74 611.2 746.23 870.16 525.84

March 745.45 761.63 799.78 859.93 827.48

April 797.34 818.11 747.4 875.91 908.34

May 853.94 863.75 780.61 1043.45 814.64

June 674.85 826.69 927.39 916.79 858.75

July 929.9 701.01 660.39 877.62 891.95

August 886.71 674.95 919.94 929.51 916.68

September 824.01 701.68 766.92 776.92 786.83

October 761.84 730.18 858.24 845.5 1004.1

November 610.03 817.56 899.98 793.21 1002.79

December 962.92 875.17 844.46 804.03 964.07
Total Tons (+200 City Shop) 9788.36 9344.12 9935.24 10725.17 10519 10062 Historical Average

Prev 5 Years 

Comparison

WM 2014 Rate $26.70 261,349.21$  253,692.86$  270,238.53$  296,443.70$  303,893.91$  1,385,618.21$  

SWASWD 2014 Rate $23.98 234,724.87$  228,650.62$  248,082.94$  273,277.33$  274,545.90$  1,259,281.66$  

Difference 26,624.34$    25,042.24$    22,155.59$    23,166.37$    29,348.01$    126,336.54$      

New Contract 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Historical Average -/+ % 10792.70 10303.79 10916.86 11720.34 11495.31

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Cost Savings

WM 2019 Rate $33.50 361,555.34$  355,480.67$  387,548.63$  427,792.56$  431,074.25$  1,963,451.45$  Option II $1.00 increase annually

WCA 2019 Rate $25.00 269,817.42$  262,746.58$  289,624.37$  317,152.51$  317,270.65$  1,456,611.53$  2% increase annually

Difference 91,737.92$    92,734.09$    97,924.26$    110,640.05$  113,803.60$  506,839.92$      

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Cost Savings

WM 2019 Rate $33.50 361,555.34$  355,480.67$  387,548.63$  427,792.56$  431,074.25$  1,963,451.45$  Option II $1.00 increase annually

Sanitation Solutions $16.00 172,683.15$  164,860.60$  174,669.81$  187,525.50$  183,925.01$  883,664.07$      Contract set at $16.00 for term of agreement

Difference 188,872.19$  190,620.07$  212,878.83$  240,267.05$  247,149.24$  1,079,787.38$  

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Cost Savings

WM 2019 Rate $35.50 383,140.73$  365,784.46$  387,548.63$  416,072.21$  408,083.63$  1,960,629.66$  Option I set rate at $35.50 for term of agreement

WM 2019 Rate $33.50 361,555.34$  355,480.67$  387,548.63$  427,792.56$  431,074.25$  1,963,451.45$  Option II $1.00 increase annually

Difference 21,585.39$    10,303.79$    -$                 (11,720.34)$   (22,990.63)$   (2,821.79)$         Sanitation Solutions 1,076,965.59$   WCA 504,018.13$  

Projected Tonnage

Compariosn of WM Option I versus Option II

Residential Solid Waste

WM and WCA Comparison With New Rate

WM Landfill Increase Based on Annual CPI

WM and Sanitation Solutions Comparison With New Rate

9



REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL  

  WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES  

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS

10



2 

RFP – Waste Disposal  Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

Proposal Submission ........................................................................................................................ 3 

Pre-Proposal Conference .................................................................................................................. 3 
Proposer’s Clarification ................................................................................................................... 3 
Insurance .......................................................................................................................................... 3 
Workers Compensation and Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance ............................ 3-4 

Equal Employment Opportunity ...................................................................................................... 4 

Alternations or Modifications .......................................................................................................... 5 
Subcontracts ..................................................................................................................................... 5 
Right to Audit Records .................................................................................................................5-6 
Dissemination of Information .......................................................................................................... 6 

Permits/Licenses .............................................................................................................................. 6 

Observance of Laws, Ordinances and Regulations .......................................................................... 6 
Withdrawal of Proposals .................................................................................................................. 6 
Proposal Rejection ............................................................................................................................ 6 
Execution of Contract....................................................................................................................... 7 

Contract Termination ....................................................................................................................... 7 

Scope of Services .......................................................................................................................... 7-8 
Information Required with Proposals .............................................................................................. 8 
Compensation .................................................................................................................................. 9 
Evaluation of Proposals .................................................................................................................... 9 

Assignment of Key Staff .................................................................................................................. 9 

Selection Committee ........................................................................................................................ 9 

Questions Regarding Specifications .............................................................................................. 10 

FORMS 

Non-Collusion Affidavit ............................................................................................... 11-13 

Non-Discrimination Statement ............................................................................................ 14 

Non-Indebtedness .............................................................................................................. 15 

11



3 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The City of Texarkana is requesting proposals for a service provider for solid waste disposal 

services. Service provider shall have expertise in the operation and management of landfills and/ 

or transfer stations.  The waste to be delivered to the facility will be collected and transported by 

contracted solid waste haulers. The City delivers approximately 21,000 tons of solid waste (trash 

and street sweepings) on an annual basis. 
  

The term of the contract will be five years, with three additional one-year contract extensions 

at the City’s option. 

 
PROPOSAL SUBMISSION 

 

Eight (8) hard copies of the proposal, inclusive of all requested information and supporting 

documents, shall be submitted to the City Manager. Proposals shall be received until 3:00 P.M. 

on March 15, 2019, at which time the proposal shall be opened publicly at the office of the City 

Manager. Proposers are invited to be present at the RFP opening. 

 

Proposals received after the hour specified will not be considered. 

PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE 

A pre-proposal meeting will be held on March 8, 2019 at 10:00 A.M. 

 

PROPOSER’S CLARIFICATION 

By submitting a proposal, the proposer certifies that the RFP has been fully read and that the 

proposer understands the proposal method and has full knowledge of the scope, nature and quality 

of work to be performed. 

INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer, at the time of execution of the contact, shall also furnish the City with 

copies of permits, any related insurance certificates of adequate limits, as later indicated, to protect 

the City of Texarkana, its agents, and employees, from any litigation involving Worker's 

Compensation, Public Liability and Property Damage, involved in the work. All subcontractors 

must also furnish copies of their liability insurance and Worker's Compensation Insurance 

certificates to the City. No subcontractor will be allowed to perform any work under this contract 

by the City unless such certificates are submitted to and approved by the City beforehand. 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION, PUBLIC LIABILITY   AND PROPERTY DAMAGE 

INSURANCE 

The status of the Proposer in the work to be performed is that of any independent Proposer and 

as such, shall properly safeguard against any and all injury or damage to the public, to public 

and private property, materials and things, and as such shall be responsible for any and all 

damage, loss or injury to persons or property that may arise, or be incurred, in or during the 

conduct or progress of said work without regard to whether or not the Proposer, sub- contractors, 

agents, or employees have been negligent, and the Proposer shall keep the City free and 

12



4 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

discharged of and from any and all responsibility and liability therefore of any sort or kind. The 

Proposer shall assume all responsibility for risks or casualties of every description, for any or all 

damage, loss or injury to persons or property arising out of the nature of the work from the action 

of the elements, or from any unforeseen or unusual difficulty, including all legal defense costs 

incurred by the City. The Proposer shall assume and be liable for all blame and loss of 

whatsoever nature by reason of neglect or violation of any Federal, State, County or Local laws, 

regulations, or ordinances; the Proposer shall indemnify and hold harmless the City from all suits 

or actions at law of any kind whatsoever in connection with this work and shall  if required by 

the City, produce evidence of settlement of any such action before final payment shall be made 

by the City. Proposer's Liability Insurance Certificate shall include the hold harmless clause and 

shall be filed with the City. 

The Proposer shall maintain such insurance as will protect the proposer from claims under 

worker's compensation acts and from claims for damages because of bodily injury, including 

death, and property damage, which may arise from and during operations under this Contract, 

whether such operations be by himself, by any subcontractor or anyone directly or indirectly 

employed by either of them. Proposer's liability insurance shall be in the names of the Proposer 

and the City as their respective interests may appear. Each policy and Certificate of Insurance 

shall contain an endorsement naming the City of Texarkana as additionally insured.  Certificates 

of such insurance shall be filed with the City. 

The minimum amount of liability insurance to be maintained by the Contractor during the life of 

the contract shall be as follows: 

Comprehensive General Liability – for bodily injury and property damage – including 

any liability normally covered by a general liability policy with limits of not less than 

$1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the annual aggregate. 

Professional Liability – in minimum amounts of $1,00,000 per occurrence and 

$2,000,000 aggregate. 

 

Workmen’s Compensation insurance covering all employees of contractor engaged in the 

execution of landfill operations. 

Prior to commencement of performance of this Agreement, Contractor shall furnish to the City a 

certificate of insurance evidencing all required coverage in at least the limits required herein, 

naming the City of Texarkana, its elected officials,  agents, and employees as additional 

insureds under the Comprehensive General Liability coverage, and providing that no 

policies may be modified or cancelled without thirty (30) days advance written notice to the City. 

Such certificate shall be issued to: City of Texarkana, 216 Walnut Street, Texarkana, AR 

71854. All policies shall be in effect with companies holding an A.M. Best rating of “A-” or 

better and shall be licensed to do business in the State of Arkansas.  Such companies shall also 

be acceptable to the City. 
 

Please forward a certificate of insurance verifying these insurance requirements. 

All subcontractors performing work under this contract must furnish to the City a copy of their 

Certificate of Insurance for Workers‟ Compensation and liability for bodily injury and property 

damage. 

 

13



5 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

 

During the performance of this Contract, the Proposer agrees as follows: 

The Proposer will not discriminate against any employees or applicant for employment because 

of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The Proposer will take affirmative action to ensure 

that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard 

to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to, 

the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment 

advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for 

training, including apprenticeship.   The Proposer agrees to post in conspicuous places, available 

to employees and applicants for employment, notices which may be provided by the City setting 

forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

The Proposer will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of 

the Proposer, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 

without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

In the event of the Proposer’s noncompliance with the non-discrimination clauses of this 

Contract or with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this Contract may be canceled, 

terminated, or suspended in whole, or in part and the Proposer may be declared ineligible for 

further City contracts. 

The Proposer will include the provisions of these paragraphs in every subcontract or purchase 

order unless exempted. 

ALTERATIONS OR MODIFICATIONS 

This contract will be under the direct supervision of the City or its authorized representatives. 

Any alterations or modifications of the work performed under this contract shall be made only 

by written agreement between the Proposer and the City authorized representatives and shall be 

made prior to commencement of the altered or modified work.  No claims for extra work or 

materials shall be allowed unless covered by written agreement. 
 

SUBCONTRACTS 

The Proposer will not be allowed to subcontract work under this contract unless written approval 

is granted by the City. The Sub-proposer, as approved, shall be bound by the conditions of the 

contract between the City and the Proposer. The authorization of a Sub-proposer is to perform 

in accordance with all terms of the contract and Specifications. All required notices, work orders, 

directives, and requests for emergency services will be directed to the Proposer. All directions 

given to the Sub-proposer in the field shall bind the Proposer as if the notice had been given 

directly to the Proposer. 
 

RIGHT TO AUDIT RECORDS 

The City shall be entitled to audit the books and records of a proposer or any sub-proposer to the 

extent that such books and records relate to the performance of such contract or sub-contract 

(including, without limitation, all billing records and weight records or tickets). Such books and 

14



6 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

records shall be maintained by the proposer for a period of five (5) years following the 

termination of the contract or sub-contract or, if no termination, the later to occur of the 

expiration of the initial term or expiration of any extension term(s) exercised by the City; unless 

a shorter period is otherwise authorized in writing. 

DISSEMINATION OF INFORMATION 

During the term of the resulting contract, the successful proposer may not release any 

information related to the services or performance of services under the contract, nor publish any 

report or documents relating to the City, the  account or  performance of  services under the 

agreement without prior written consent of the City; and shall indemnify and hold harmless the 

City, its officers, agents, and employees from all liability which may be incurred by reason of 

dissemination, publication and distribution, or circulation, in any manner whatsoever, of any 

information, data, documents, or material pertaining to the City, the account or the contract by 

the proposer or its agents or employees. 
 

PERMITS/LICENSES 

The Proposer shall, at its expense, pay all fees and procure all necessary licenses and permits 

needed to conduct the work required under the terms of this contract.  The Proposer shall give 

any and all necessary formal notices required in conjunction with the lawful prosecution of the 

work of this contract. 

OBSERVANCE OF LAWS, ORDINANCES AND REGULATIONS 

The Proposer at all times during the term of this contract shall observe and abide by all Federal, 

State, and Local laws which in any way affect the conduct of the work and shall comply with all 

decrees and orders of courts of competent jurisdiction. The Proposer shall comply fully and 

completely with any and all applicable State and Federal statutes, rules and regulations as they 

relate to hiring, wages, and any other applicable conditions of employment. 

WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSALS 
 

Proposers may revise or withdraw their proposals at any time prior to the due date and time by 

emailing Tyler Richards, Public Works Director at tyler.richards@txkusa.org or Tracie Lee, 

Assistant Public Works Director at tracie.lee@txkusa.org.  No proposals may be withdrawn for 

a period of ninety (90) days following the formal opening and receipt of proposals by the City 

of Texarkana 

PROPOSAL REJECTION 

The City of Texarkana reserves the right to reject any or all proposals and to accept or reject any 

part of any proposal. It also reserves the right to waive any technical defects or minor 

irregularities, which in its discretion, is in the best interest of the City.  

*****Notice to proposers the City is also considering participating in services offered 

through the Southwest Arkansas Solid Waste District (SWASWD).  As the City is a member 

of this district a proposal is not required from SWASWD.  If the terms and/or services 

available to the City as a member of the SWASWD are determined to be more beneficial to 

the citizens of Texarkana the City will reject all proposals submitted through this RFP.***** 

15



7 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

EXECUTION OF CONTRACT 

The successful Proposer shall, within ten (10) calendar days after mailing of contract documents 

by the City to the Principal, enter into contract with the City. 

The contract, when executed, shall be deemed to include the entire agreement between the 

parties; the Proposer shall not base any claim for modification of the contract upon any prior 

representation or promise made by the representatives or the City, or other persons. All 

attachments are considered as part of this document. 

CONTRACT TERMINATION 

The City shall have the right to terminate a contract or a part thereof before the work is completed 

in the event: 

A. Previous unknown circumstances arise making it desirable in the public interest to 

terminate the contract. 

B. The City shall have the right to terminate the contract in the event that funds are not 

budgeted in any calendar year following the year that the contract is initially 

executed. 

C. The proposer is not adequately complying with the specifications. 

D. The proposer refuses, neglects, or fails to supply properly trained or skilled 

supervisory personal and/or workers or proper equipment. 
E. The propose r in the judgment of the City is unnecessarily or willfully delaying 

the performance and completion of the work. 
F. The proposer refuses to proceed with work when and as directed by the City. 
G. The proposer abandons the work. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

Management of Waste 
 

Disposal and Processing Facility Information: 
 

Proposers shall provide the following information for all disposal and/or processing 

facilities to be used to provide solid waste disposal services under the Agreement. 

a. Name, location, and description of the facility and the type of material that will be 

accepted, processed, and/or disposed at the location. 

b. Name of owner and operator of the facility (or facilities), identifying whether the 

company that owns and/or operates the processing facility is the same as the Proposer, 

a related-party entity, or subcontractor. 

c. Contact name and phone number of the site/landfill manager. 

d. Term of the Proposer's contract with the facility (if applicable). 

e. If the facility is owned and operated by the Proposer, provide a guarantee to provide 

the processing and/or disposal services proposed and guaranteeing the capacity 

required over the term of the agreement. If the facility is not owned and operated by 

the Proposer, provide a letter from the facility owner and operator that documents their 

16



8 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

commitment to provide the processing and/or disposal services proposed and 

guaranteeing the capacity required over the term of the agreement. If the capacity 

guaranteed to the City relies on development of a new facility or expansion of an 

existing facility, describe the development or expansion plans, additional capacity to 

be constructed, schedule for development/expansion, and permitting status of the 

development/expansion plan. 

f. End product for yard trimmings, if accepted, at the disposal/processing facility. 

 
j. Description of Customer Service. Proposers shall include a description of customer service 

policies and procedures. Proposers shall include the following: 

i. Description of complaint resolution procedures. 

ii. Name, title and contact information of Proposer’s staff responsible for complaints. 

 
k. Description of Customer Billing Policies and Procedures. Proposer shall describe the 

policies and procedures to be used for billing, documenting, and reporting disposal services 

provided to the City. 

INFORMATION REQUIRED WITH PROPOSALS 

 

Please provide this information on separate sheets of paper in the order listed: 

 

1. Price per ton for municipal solid waste, trash, and rubbish 

• Rate shall be the same rate applied to all municipal solid waste (both residential and 

commercial waste). 

 

2. Price per ton for tires 

 

3. Price per ton for street sweepings 

 

4. Qualifications and Experience. 

• Demonstrate the experience of the individual, firm or organization in conducting 

efforts of the nature and scope required by this Request for Proposal. Proposer shall 

include length of time in the industry as part of description of qualifications and 

experience. 

 

• Identify the key personnel to be assigned to render the services required. Provide a 

list of past experience and all certifications and licenses. 

 

5. Stability. 

 

• Demonstrate the ability and continuity of both staff and management of the individual, 

firm or organization. 

 

6. Days and Hours of Operation. 

17



9 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

• Holiday Schedule (closed) 

COMPENSATION 

Proposer shall identify all waste streams accepted at the facility with associated costs. Costs shall 

be presented in per ton format. 

 

EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS 

The City of Texarkana will evaluate each written proposal, determine whether oral discussions 

with the individuals, firms or organizations are necessary, then based on the content of the written 

proposal and any oral discussions, select the best qualified for the assignment and which is most 

advantageous to the City of Texarkana, price and all other factors considered. 

The evaluation will be based upon the following areas: 

a. Completeness of response to the RFP 

b. Relevant experience (permits, certifications and licenses) 

c. Stability of Price 

d. Proximity of the facility to the City of Texarkana 
i. City expense related to round trip travel time will be considered 

ii. City prefers to contract with service providers within a 15-90 mile radius of 
the City of Texarkana if the cost is justifiable. 

The Offeror must insure that employees and applicants for employment are not discriminated 

against because of their race, color, religion, sex, national origin, disability, or familial status. 

All successful bidders must meet the terms and conditions of: 

· The parallel residential and commercial disposal rate requirement of the City. 

· Have the capacity to bill the City for residential disposal and bill the haulers for commercial 

disposal separately. 

• At the current time the City has three solid waste haulers that will be responsible for 

paying their commercial landfill fees. 

• Richardson Waste, Inc. 

• Edmondson’s Trash Service 

• Waste Management 

ASSIGNMENT OF KEY STAFF 

 

If a key contact member leaves during the course of the contract, the City must be notified within 

30 days of any changes in contact and provide any updated contact information 

SELECTION COMMITTEE AND PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW OF PROPOSALS 

A Selection Committee to include the City Manager, Public Works Director, Assistant Public 

Works Director and other key personnel will review and evaluate all proposals submitted in 

response to this Request for Proposals (RFP). The Committee shall conduct a preliminary 

evaluation of all proposals based on the information provided. The Committee will first review 

each proposal for compliance with the minimum qualifications and mandatory requirements of 

the RFP. Once the selection committee has evaluated each proposal a recommendation will be 

submitted to the Solid Waste Committee for final recommendation to the Board of Directors. 

Failure to comply with any mandatory requirements may disqualify a proposal. 

18



10 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

The City reserves the right to reject any and all proposals and to waive minor irregularities. The 

City further reserves the right to seek new proposals when such a procedure is reasonably in the 

best interest of the City to do so. 

QUESTIONS REGARDING SPECIFICATIONS OR PROPOSAL PROCESS: 

To ensure fair consideration for all proposers, the City prohibits communication to or with any 

department director, division manager or employee during the submission process with the 

exception of those questions relative to interpretation of specifications or the proposal process. 

No interpretations of the meaning of the RFP documents will be made to any bidder orally. 

 

Every request for such interpretation shall be submitted to the Public Works Department and to be 

given consideration must be sent in prior to 10:00 A. M. on March 8, 2019. Direct inquiries to: 

Tyler Richards, Public Works Director or 

Tracie Lee, Assistant Public Works Director 

City Hall, Public Works Department 
216 Walnut Street 
Texarkana, AR 71854 
FAX - (870) 773-2395 
tyler.richards@txkusa.org  
tracie.lee@txkusa.org  

 

Any and all such interpretation will be in the form of an Addendum to the Contract Documents 
and will be issued via email to all prospective proposers no later than March 15, 2019. 

 

Additionally, the city prohibits communications initiated by a proposer to any City Official or 

employee evaluating or considering the proposals prior to the time an award decision has been 

made. Any communication between proposer and the City will be initiated by the appropriate City 

Official or employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper, 

accurate evaluation of the proposal. Such communications initiated by a proposer may be grounds 

for disqualifying the offending proposer from consideration for award of the proposal and/or any 

future proposal. 

19



11 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR NON-COLLUSION 

AFFIDAVIT 

This Non-Collusion Affidavit is material to any contract pursuant to this bid.  According to the 

State of Arkansas Reporting of Suspected Collusion, ARK. Code Ann. § 19-11-240, 19-11-244; 

R1 to R2: 19-11-244, governmental agencies may require Non-Collusion Affidavits to be submitted 

together with proposals. 
 

This Non-Collusion affidavit must be executed by the member, officer, or employee of the proposer 
who is authorized to legally bind the proposer. 

Bid/Proposal rigging and other efforts to restrain competition, and the making of false sworn 

statements in connection with the submission of proposals are unlawful and may be subject to 

criminal prosecution. The person who signs the Affidavit should examine it carefully before signing 

and assure himself or herself that each statement is true and accurate, making diligent inquiry, as 

necessary, of all other persons employed by or associated with the proposer with responsibilities 

for the preparation, approval, or submission of the bid. 

In the case of a proposal submitted by a joint venture, each party to the venture must be identified 

in the proposal documents, and an Affidavit must be submitted separately on behalf of each party. 

The term "complementary bid/proposal" as used in the Affidavit has the meaning commonly 

associated with that term in the RFP process, and includes the knowing submission of proposals 

higher than the proposal of another firm, any intentionally high or noncompetitive proposal, and 

any form of proposal submitted for the purpose of giving a false appearance of competition. 

Failure to file an Affidavit in compliance with these instructions will result in disqualification of 

the proposal. 

20



12 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

NON-COLLUSION 
AFFIDAVIT 

 

State of    

County of     

  _, being first duly sworn, deposes and says 

that: 

He/She is  of the Proposer that 

has 

(Owner, Partner, Officer, Representative or Agent) 

submitted the attached 

Proposal; 

He/She is fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached Proposal and of 

all pertinent circumstances respecting such Proposal; 

Such Proposal is genuine and is not a collusive or sham Proposal; 

Neither the said Proposer nor any of its officers; partners, owners, agents, representatives, 

employees, or parties in interest, including this affidavit, has in any way colluded, conspired, 

connived or agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Proposer, firm or person to submit a 

collusive or sham Proposal in connection with the Contract for which the attached Proposal is 

submitted or to refrain from submitting in connection with such Contract, or has in any manner, 

directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion or communication of conference with any 

other Proposer, firm or person to fix the price or prices in the attached Proposal or of any other 

Proposer, or to fix any overheld, profit or cost element of the Proposal price or the Proposal price 

of any other Proposer, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful 

agreement any advantage against the City of Texarkana or any person  interested  in  the  proposed 

Contract; 

The price or prices quoted in the attached Proposal are fair and proper and are not tainted by any 

collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Proposer or any of its 

agents, representatives, owners, employees, or parties in interest, including this affidavit; and, 

Neither the said Proposer nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, or parties in interest, 

have any interest, present or prospective, that can be reasonably construed to result in a conflict of 

interest between them and the City of Texarkana, which the Proposer will be required to perform. 

21



13 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

I state that  understands 

(Name of Firm) 

and acknowledges that the above representations are material and important and will be relied on 

by the City of Texarkana in awarding the Contract(s) for which this Bid is submitted. I understand 

and my firm understands that any misstatement in this Affidavit is and shall be treated as fraudulent 

concealment from the City of Texarkana of the true facts relating to the submission of bids for this 

Contract. 
 

 
 

(Name and Company Position) 

 
SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED 

BEFORE ME THIS  DAY 
OF  , 20_    

 

 

Notary 

Public 

My Commission Expires: 

22



14 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

 NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT 
 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies that it shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant 

for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin. 

The undersigned shall take affirmative action to ensure that applicants for employment are 

employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, 

religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
PROPOSER 

TITLE 

23



15 
RFP – Waste Disposal Services 
City of Texarkana 2019 

 

PROVIDER’S CERTIFICATION OF NON-INDEBTEDNESS TO THE 

CITY OF TEXARKANA 

Provider hereby certifies and represents that Provider and Provider’s parent company(ies) 

and subsidiary(ies) are not currently indebted to the City of Texarkana (the “City”), and will not at 

any time during the term of  this  Contract  (including  any  extensions  or  renewals  thereof) be 

indebted to the City, for or on account of any delinquent taxes,  liens,  judgments, fees  or other 

debts for which no written  agreement  or  payment  plan  satisfactory  to  the  City  has been 

established. In addition to any other rights or remedies available to the City at law or in equity, 

Provider acknowledges that  any breach or failure to conform to this  certification  may,  at the 

option of  the City, result in the  withholding of  payments otherwise due to Provider and,  if such 

breach or failure is not resolved to the City’s satisfaction within a reasonable time frame specified 

by the City in writing, may result in the offset of any such indebtedness against said payments 

and/or the termination of this Contract for default (in which case Provider shall be liable for all 

excess costs and other damages resulting from the termination). 
 

 

 
 

Name of 

Provider 

 

 
By:  Authorized Signatory 

 

 
Title:   President or Vice President 

 

 
Attest:      

24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



www.arkansas.txkusa.org  

 

CITY OF TEXARKANA ARKANSAS 
OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
216 WALNUT ST., TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 71854-6024 
P.O. BOX 2711, TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 75504-2711 
PHONE (870) 779-4952 – FAX (870) 774-3170 

 
 
 
March 21, 2019 
 
Solid Waste Committee Members  
 
 
RE: Request for Proposals for Waste Disposal Services 
 
Dear Committee Members, 
 
As you are aware the City’s landfill contract with Waste Management will expire on April 
30th.  Due to this the City advertised for request for proposals (RFP) for solid waste disposal 
services on March 3, 2019.  A pre-proposal meeting was held on March 8th at 10:00 a.m. to 
answer any questions proposers may have regarding the RFP.  The deadline to submit 
proposals was March 15, 2019 by 3:00 p.m.   
 
Three proposals were submitted from Sanitation Solutions Inc., Waste Management of 
Texas, Inc. and Waste Corporation of Arkansas, LLC. The below rates were provided. 
 

• Sanitation Solutions Inc. – $16.00 a ton for the duration of the five-year contract 
inclusive of fuel surcharges. 
 

• Waste Management of Texas, Inc. – Option I: $35.50 a ton for the duration of the five-
year contract inclusive of fuel surcharges.  Option II: $33.50 a ton with a $1.00 increase 
annually. 
 

• Waste Corporation of Arkansas, LLC - $25.00 a ton inclusive of fuel surcharges with a 
2% increase annually. 

 
First staff evaluated the proposals based on the requirements of the RFP and the rate. Then 
staff performed a cost benefit analysis taking into consideration the distance the haulers 
would have to travel. Lastly staff performed a cost saving analysis for the City based on all 
rates proposed.   
 
With Sanitation Solutions Inc. providing the lowest rate City staff contacted several of the 
references provided in their proposal.  Every entity contacted was either satisfied or very 
satisfied with their services.  When asked to rate the company on a scale of 1-10 the ratings 
range from 8-10. 
 
Staff also contacted South West Arkansas Planning and Development District to make sure 
the City would not be violating any terms of agreement with the district as it relates to the 
distance of the new proposed landfill.  Blake Harrell with SWAPDD stated there would be no 
issue as the rate would benefit the citizens of Texarkana. 
 

100



www.arkansas.txkusa.org  

Based on the results staff is recommending the landfill contract be awarded to Sanitation 
Solutions as the new rate will save the City approximately $1,070,271.74 during the life of 
the contract when compared to the new rates quoted from Waste Management as they are 
the City’s current provider.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Dr. Kenny Haskin 
City Manager 

101



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 1 of 14 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

CONTRACT FOR SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES -LANDFILL  
FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

102



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 2 of 14 

 

 CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES LANDFILL 
 

Whereas SANITATION SOLUTIONS, INC., and Texas corporation, acting by and through its 

President/Owner, hereinafter called "Sanitation Solutions," and the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, acting 

by and through the duly authorized City Manager of said City, hereinafter called the "City," desire to 

enter into a Solid Waste Disposal Service Agreement (hereinafter called the "Contract"), and 

Whereas the City is granted the authority to Contract, using competitive procurement methods, 

for the provision of solid waste disposal services pursuant to Arkansas Code Annotated 14-58-105, City’s 

Garbage Ordinance found in Chapter 22 of the City’s Code of Ordinances, and/or other applicable law, 

and  

Whereas the City requested proposals for such services and after advertisement, proposals were 

received and evaluated: and 

Whereas, on ______________ the City Board of Directors in Resolution #____________, 

deemed it to be in the interest of the citizens of Texarkana, Arkansas that the proposal submitted by 

Sanitations Solutions be accepted: 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and agreements herein contained 

and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby forever 

acknowledged and confessed, the Parties agrees as follows: 

Article 1. Ordinance Authority 

This Contract is made pursuant to City's Garbage Ordinance found in Chapter 22 of the City's Code of 

Ordinances. All words and phrases contained herein shall be defined in accordance with said Ordinance 

except those words and phrases specifically defined in this Contract. All words and phrases not defined 

shall be given those meanings commonly ascribed to them by custom and usage. 

Article 2.  Scope of Services 

Section 2.01 Term of Contract 

The term of this Contract shall be for a period of five years commencing at midnight, May 1, 2019, and 

ending at midnight April 30, 2024 ("Contract Term"), unless otherwise extended, terminated, or cancelled 

in accordance with this Article.  

Section 2.02 Extension of Contract Term  

The initial five (5) year term of this contact shall automatically be extended for three additional one-year 

terms at the City’s option unless either party notifies the other party in writing, more than one hundred 

twenty (120) days, nor less than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the initial five (5) year term or 

of any successive one (1) year term, of intention to terminate this Contract. Any such written notice shall 

be served by certified mail, return receipt requested.   

103



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 3 of 14 

 

Article 3.  Scope and Quality of Services 

Section 3.01 Basic Service 

The purpose of this Contract is to provide for a landfill for the disposal of all solid waste accumulated 

within the present and future corporate limits of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, and it is the intent of 

the City to enter into this Contract with Sanitation Solutions for the disposal at said landfill of all garbage, 

trash and other solid waste collected from each and every residence and commercial business located 

within the city limits of the City.  Nothing contained herein shall require the City to utilize Sanitation 

Solutions for the disposal of all yard or vegetative waste collected within the City. 

Section 3.02 Landfill Location 

Sanitation Solutions will, at its landfill located in Blossom, Texas, County of Lamar provide for the 

disposal of all garbage, trash and other solid waste collected from each and every residence and 

commercial business located within the city limits of the City.  Sanitations Solutions agrees to operate its 

landfill in compliance with all applicable rules and regulations and in a manner consistent with proper 

health and sanitation methods. 

Section 3.03 Operations 

Sanitation Solutions shall, at its own cost and expense, provide all machinery, equipment, laborers, 

supervision, insurance and other accessories necessary to efficiently and properly dispose of all garbage, 

trash, refuse and other solid waste collected from within the city limits of the City and delivered to its 

landfill. Sanitation Solutions shall, at its own cost and expense, provide the site and maintenance of said 

site for disposal of said trash, garbage, refuse and other solid waste and said site shall be available for 

disposal of solid waste by any citizen and shall have the following minimum hours of operation, to-wit: 

Monday - Friday  

Saturday 

Sunday 

Holidays 

6:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

8:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 

Closed 

Closed on New Year’s Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.   

Section 3.04 Residential Waste 

Licensed residential refuse collectors under Contract with City for residential waste collection may 

dispose of residential waste collected from Texarkana, Arkansas, residents at Contractor's landfill site at 

no cost to said residential refuse collectors. The term residential waste excludes dead animals (other than 

dogs and cats), large household appliances and furniture, tires, batteries, automobile parts, tree trunks or 

stumps (size defined by Sec. 22-1 of City Code) and construction or building materials. 

Section 3.05 Residential Refuse Rate 

City shall pay Sanitation Solution the sum of Sixteen and No/100 Dollars ($16.00) per ton for each ton of 

residential waste collected from residents of the City and delivered by the City or its licensed residential 

refuse collectors to Sanitation Solution’s Blossom Prairie Landfill (being the landfill referenced herein) 

during the term of this Contract.  Sanitation Solutions shall install and thereafter maintain accurate weight 

scales, capable of accommodating waste hauling vehicles, at its landfill within 6 months of Contract 

execution and will keep accurate records of the amount of said residential waste delivered by licensed 

residential refuse collectors to said landfill and will allow said records to be inspected by a City 

104



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 4 of 14 

 

representative. Sanitation Solutions shall bill for periods covering the 26th day of each month through the 

25th day of the next month and said billing shall be mailed by Sanitation Solutions to City by last day of 

each month.  Sanitation Solutions shall provide City with copies of weight tickets and summary sheet 

concerning weight tickets with each monthly billing. Fees due Contractor shall be paid by the 15th day of 

each month following the mailing of said billing.  It is understood and agreed that the billing for the 

month of May 2019, will only cover the period of May 1, 2019, through May 25, 2019. 

Section 3.06 Residential Historical Average 

Until such time as scales are installed at the Blossom Prairie Landfill Site Sanitation Solutions shall use 

the City’s historical average of 10,062 tons per year (838.50 tons per month) for billing purposes.  The 

following chart is illustrative only and to provide the underlying basis for the average above. 

 

Once scales are installed landfill operator shall ensure only residential waste is billed to the City.  

Monthly tonnage reports shall be provided in the form reasonably requested by the City.  

Section 3.07 Commercial Waste. 

Commercial Waste is to be charged to licensed commercial refuse collectors separate from the City.  

Sanitation Solutions shall create separate residential and commercial accounts.  The commercial accounts 

shall be the sole responsibility of each licensed hauler and not be comingled with the City’s residential 

waste. 

Section 3.08 Commercial Hauler Fees 

Commercial refuse haulers servicing accounts within the City limits of Texarkana, Arkansas will be 

charged $16.00 per ton  (tire and sludge disposal fees, however, are set out in Section 10.01 below) for 

disposal of waste by Sanitation Solutions at the landfill. Commercial refuse haulers are defined as those 

(other than licensed residential collectors under residential collection contract with the City) who pickup, 

collect, carry, transfer or in any way handle solid waste material from a commercial business located 

within the city limits of the City.  The fee for terms applicable to disposal of garbage, trash, refuse or 

other solid waste by residential or commercial refuse haulers from another city, county or outside the City 

limits at Sanitation Solutions’ landfill is not within the scope of this Contract. All disposal fees charged 

by Sanitation Solutions pursuant to this Contract shall be collected by and belong to Sanitation Solutions. 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

January 833.63 762.19 783.9 932.14 817.53

February 707.74 611.2 746.23 870.16 525.84

March 745.45 761.63 799.78 859.93 827.48

April 797.34 818.11 747.4 875.91 908.34

May 853.94 863.75 780.61 1043.45 814.64

June 674.85 826.69 927.39 916.79 858.75

July 929.9 701.01 660.39 877.62 891.95

August 886.71 674.95 919.94 929.51 916.68

September 824.01 701.68 766.92 776.92 786.83

October 761.84 730.18 858.24 845.5 1004.1

November 610.03 817.56 899.98 793.21 1002.79

December 962.92 875.17 844.46 804.03 964.07
Total Tons (+200 City Shop) 9788.36 9344.12 9935.24 10725.17 10519 10062 Historical Average

Residential Solid Waste

105



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 5 of 14 

 

Article 4. Insurance 

Section 4.01 Workers’ Compensation, Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance 

The status of Sanitation Solutions in the work to be performed is that of any independent contractor and 

as such, shall properly safeguard against any and all injury or damage to the public, to public and private 

property, materials and things, and as such shall be responsible for any and all damage, loss or injury to 

persons or property that may arise, or be incurred, in or during the conduct or progress of said work 

without regard to whether or not the Sanitation Solutions, subcontractors, agents, or employees have been 

negligent, and Sanitation Solutions shall keep the City free and discharged of and from any and all 

responsibility and liability therefore of any sort or kind. Sanitation Solutions shall assume all 

responsibility for risks or casualties of every description, for any or all damage, loss or injury to persons 

or property arising out of the nature of the work from the action of the elements, or from any unforeseen 

or unusual difficulty, including all legal defense costs incurred by the City.  

Sanitation Solutions shall assume and be liable for all blame and loss of whatsoever nature by reason of 

neglect or violation of any Federal, state, county or local laws, regulations, or ordinances; Sanitation 

Solutions shall indemnify and hold harmless the City from all suits or actions at law of any kind 

whatsoever in connection with this work and shall  if required by the City, produce evidence of settlement 

of any such action before final payment shall be made by the City. Sanitation Solutions’ Liability 

Insurance Certificate shall include the hold harmless clause and shall be filed with the City. 

Sanitation Solutions shall maintain such insurance as will protect Sanitation Solutions from claims under 

worker's compensation acts and from claims for damages because of bodily injury, including death, and 

property damage, which may arise from and during operations under this Contract, whether such 

operations be by or on behalf of Sanitation Solutions, or any employee, officer, agent, or contractor of the 

same.  

Section 4.02 Liability Insurance Requirements  

Sanitation Solutions shall carry the type of insurance hereafter set out and policies or certificates of 

insurance showing such coverages shall be deposited with the City Clerk at the time of the execution of 

this Contract, to-wit:  

Comprehensive General Liability – for bodily injury and property damage – including any liability 

normally covered by a general liability policy with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and 

$2,000,000 in the annual aggregate. 

Professional Liability – in minimum amounts of $1,00,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate. 

Workmen’s Compensation insurance covering all employees of Contractor engaged in the execution of 

landfill operations. 

Section 4.03 Inclusion of City as Named Insured 

Prior to commencement of performance of this Agreement, Contractor shall furnish to the City a 

certificate of insurance evidencing all required coverage in at least the limits required herein, naming the 

City of Texarkana, its elected officials, agents, and employees as additional insureds under the 

Comprehensive General Liability coverage, and providing that no policies may be modified or 

cancelled without thirty (30) days advance written notice to the City. Such certificate shall be issued to: 

City of Texarkana, 216 Walnut Street, Texarkana, AR 71854. All policies shall be in effect with 

106



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 6 of 14 

 

companies holding an A.M. Best rating of “A-” or better and shall be licensed to do business in the State 

of Arkansas.  Such companies shall also be acceptable to the City.  

Section 4.04 Subcontracts 

Sanitation Solutions will not be allowed to subcontract work under this Contract unless written approval 

is granted by the City. Sanitation Solutions, as approved, shall be bound by the conditions of the Contract 

between the City and the Proposer. The authorization of a Subcontractor is to perform in accordance with 

all terms of the Contract and specifications. All required notices, work orders, directives, and requests for 

emergency services will be directed to Sanitation Solutions. All directions given to the Subcontractor in 

the field shall bind Sanitation Solutions as if the notice had been given directly to Sanitation Solutions. 

All subcontractors performing work under this Contract must furnish to the City a copy of their 

Certificate of Insurance for Workers‟ Compensation and liability for bodily injury and property damage. 

Section 4.05 Loss of Insurance Coverage 

Should Sanitation Solutions or any subcontractors fail to keep such insurance policies paid and in a 

current status then such failure shall be grounds of cancellation of this Contract.  All insurance policies 

shall be subject to the approval of the City. 

Article 5. Compliance with Laws 

Section 5.01 State and Federal Law Regulations 

Sanitation Solutions agrees to abide by the terms of all State and Federal laws and regulations in the 

performance of this Contract.  Sanitation Solutions further agrees that it shall be responsible to the City 

Manager of the City or the designated representative of the City Manager in carrying out the terms and 

conditions of this Contract. 

Section 5.02 Equal Employment Opportunity 

During the performance of this Contract, the Sanitation Solutions agrees as follows: 

Sanitation Solutions will not discriminate against any employees or applicant for employment because of 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. Sanitations Solutions will take affirmative action to ensure 

that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to race, 

color, religion, sex, or national origin.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or 

termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including 

apprenticeship.   Sanitation Solutions agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 

applicants for employment, notices which may be provided by the City setting forth the provisions of this 

nondiscrimination clause. 

Sanitation Solutions will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the 

company, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

In the event of Sanitation Solutions noncompliance with the non-discrimination clauses of this Contract 

or with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this Contract may be canceled, terminated, or 

suspended in whole, or in part and Sanitation Solutions may be declared ineligible for further City 

Contracts. 

107



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 7 of 14 

 

Sanitation Solutions will include the provisions of these paragraphs in every subcontract or purchase 

order unless exempted. 

Section 5.03 Alterations or Modifications 

This Contract will be under the direct supervision of the City or its authorized representatives. Any 

alterations or modifications of the work performed under this Contract shall be made only by written 

agreement between Sanitation Solutions and the City authorized representatives and shall be made prior 

to commencement of the altered or modified work.  No claims for extra work or materials shall be 

allowed unless covered by written agreement. 

Article 6. Right to Audit Records 

Section 6.01 Books and Records Related to the Performance of Contract 

The City shall be entitled to audit the books and records of Sanitation Solutions or any subcontractor to 

the extent that such books and records relate to the performance of this Contract or subcontract 

(including, without limitation, all billing records and weight records or tickets). Such books and records 

shall be maintained by Sanitation Solutions for a period of five (5) years following the termination of the 

Contract or subcontract or, if no termination, the later to occur of the expiration of the initial term or 

expiration of any extension term(s) exercised by the City; unless a shorter period is otherwise authorized 

in writing. 

Article 7. Performance 

Section 7.01 Hold Harmless 

It is hereby expressly understood and agreed that Sanitation Solutions shall perform the terms and 

conditions of this Contract as an independent Contractor and will at all times hold the City harmless from 

any claims or damages that might grow out of Sanitation Solutions performance of this Contract. 

Section 7.02 Dissemination of Information 

During the term of the contract, Sanitation Solutions, unless required by applicable law or valid court 

order, may not release any information related to the services or performance of services under the 

contract, nor publish any report or documents relating to the City, the  account or  performance of  

services under the agreement without prior written consent of the City; and shall indemnify and hold 

harmless the City, its officers, agents, and employees from all liability which may be incurred by reason 

of dissemination, publication and distribution, or circulation, in any manner whatsoever, of any 

information, data, documents, or material pertaining to the City, the account or the contract by the 

proposer or its agents or employees. 

Section 7.03 Permits/Licenses 

Sanitation Solutions shall, at its expense, pay all fees and procure all necessary licenses and permits 

needed to conduct the work required under the terms of this contract.  Sanitation Solutions shall give any 

and all necessary formal notices required in conjunction with the lawful prosecution of the work of this 

contract. 

108



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 8 of 14 

 

Section 7.04 General Health and Welfare of the Citizens 

It is further understood and agreed by the City and Sanitation Solutions that the Board Directors of the 

City has determined that the general health and welfare of the citizens of City can only be served by a 

strict observance the terms and conditions of this Contract and the efficient disposal of garbage, trash and 

solid waste accumulated within the city limits and to this end that this Contract is entered into by and 

between the parties. 

Section 7.05 Failure to Fulfill the Terms and Conditions of Contract 

It is further understood and agreed that the failure of Sanitation Solutions to fulfill the terms and 

conditions imposed on it under the terms of this Contract will authorize the City to cancel this Contract if 

said failure continues for thirty (30) days after written notice by certified mail return receipt requested, of 

default to Sanitation Solutions by the City. 

Section 7.06 Notice of Rates and Hours of Operations 

Sanitation Solutions shall erect a sign at the entry of its landfill site which will contain information 

concerning disposal rates/charges, hours of operation and other general information pertinent to the 

operation of said Landfill site. 

Article 8. Title to Waste 

Section 8.01 Vested 

Title to all waste shall be vested in Sanitation Solutions upon being placed on its disposal site.  

Section 8.02 Nonoperation of Landfill 

During the term of this Contract and its extension terms the City will not operate a landfill.  During the 

term of this Contract and its extensions the City will require all residential and commercial refuse haulers 

collecting waste within the corporate limits of the City to deliver said waste to Sanitation Solutions’ 

landfill. 

Section 8.03 Excluded Waste 

Notwithstanding anything in this Contract to the contrary, Sanitation Solutions shall not be required to 

dispose of any hazardous waste, as defined by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or any 

state agency having jurisdiction over the landfill, hot ashes, explosive substances, radioactive materials, 

drugs, poisons, dead animals larger than dogs and cats, tires, batteries, automobile parts, medical waste or 

refuse from any place where highly infectious or contagious disease has prevailed. 

Section 8.04 Dead Animals 

Sanitation Solutions shall allow the City’s residential and commercial haulers to dispose of small dead 

animals (dogs and cats) at its landfill however, Sanitation Solutions shall not charge the City a disposal 

fee concerning said small dead animals.  City shall keep accurate records of the number of small dead 

animals disposed of by residential and commercial haulers and furnish such records to Sanitation 

Solutions. 

109



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 9 of 14 

 

Article 9. Assignment 

Section 9.01 Assignment of Interest 

Sanitation Solutions shall not assign its interest under this Contract without the prior written consent of 

the City. In the event of any assignment approved in writing by the City then the assignee of Sanitation 

Solutions shall assume all obligations of Sanitation Solutions under the terms of this Contract. 

Section 9.02 Successors and Assigns 

This Contract binds and inures to the benefit of Sanitation Solutions and the City and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

Section 9.03 Records and Audits 

Successors and assignees shall permit the authorized representatives of the City to inspect and audit all 

data and records of relating to performance under this Contract. Successors and assignees shall be notified 

in advance of the identity of the authorized representatives. The periods of access and examination 

described above for records which related to (1) appeals of disputes of this Contract; or (2) litigation of 

the settlement of claims arising out of this Contract, shall continue until such appeals, litigation, claims or 

exceptions have been disposed of.  

Article 10. Rate Adjustments 

Section 10.01 Fees Due 

Fees due Sanitation Solutions is set at $16.00 per ton inclusive of all fees and fuel surcharges for the 

duration (5 Years) of the Contract; provided, however, the rate (inclusive of all fees and fuel surcharges) 

for tires shall be $20.00 per ton and for sludge $20.00 per ton), as set forth on the attached Addendum A.   

The parties, to the extent permitted by applicable law, reserve the right to negotiate as to rates for any 

extension term; provided, however, in no event shall any rate change be effective unless and until agreed 

to in writing, signed by and on behalf of the City and Sanitation Solutions.   

Article 11. Entire Agreement 

Section 11.01 Choice of Law 

This agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Arkansas, and, in the event of litigation with 

respect to this agreement or any of its terms, venue shall rest in Miller County, Arkansas. 

Section 11.02 Severability 

In the event any provision hereunder is determined to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under applicable 

law, said provision shall be deemed deleted from this agreement as if never contained herein and the 

remainder of the Contract shall remain enforceable.  In the event the City is ordered by a court to dispose 

of its solid waste at a landfill other than the landfill being used by Sanitation Solutions, the City, at its 

option, will be relieved of its obligation under this Contract so long as such court order is in effect to 

dispose of its waste at Sanitation Solutions landfill and pay the consideration therefore provided that the 

City pursues in good faith whatever legal remedies it has to challenge such court order. 

110



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 10 of 14 

 

Section 11.03 Attorney Fees. 

If either the City or Sanitation Solutions institutes litigation against the other party to secure its rights 

pursuant to this Contract, the prevailing party shall be entitled to the actual and reasonable costs of 

litigation and reasonable attorney's fees in addition to any other relief lo which such party may be entitled. 

Section 11.04 Entire Agreement 

This Contract supersedes any and all other agreements, whether oral or in writing, between the Parties 

hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and no other agreement, statement, or promise relating to 

the subject matter of this Contract that is not contained herein shall be valid or binding unless in writing 

signed by all the Parties 

Section 11.05 Amendment 

This Contract may be amended in writing upon the agreement of both Parties so as to conform to the law 

or any changes in the law and/or regulations applicable to the terms of this Contract. If the City refuses to 

amend the Contract in accordance with this section, such action shall be considered a breach of this 

Contract and Sanitation Solutions may terminate the Contract. 

Section 11.06 Incorporation of Schedules 

Appendix A is hereby expressly incorporated within this Contract as though written and contained 

directly within the text of this Contract. 

Section 11.07 Termination  

The City shall have the right to terminate this Contract or a part thereof, without further obligation 

hereunder in the event: 

A. Previous unknown circumstances arise making it desirable in the public interest to terminate the 

Contract.  

B. the City shall have the right to terminate the contract in the event that funds are not budgeted in 

any calendar year following the year that the contract is initially executed.   

C. Sanitation Solutions is not adequately performing its duties hereunder.   

D. Sanitation Solutions refuses, neglects, or fails to supply properly trained or skilled supervisory 

personal and/or workers or proper equipment.   

E. Sanitation Solutions in the judgment of the City is unnecessarily or willfully delaying the 

performance or completion of its duties hereunder.  

F. Sanitation Solutions refuses to proceed with work when and as directed by the City.   

G. Sanitation Solutions abandons the work. 

No termination or cancellation of this Contract shall be deemed to be an election or remedies or waive 

any rights of the City arising from or relating to any failure or refusal of Sanitation Solutions to 

perform its obligations hereunder.  In the event that the City terminates this Contract in accordance 

with this Section or other provision of this Contract allowing for termination or cancellation by the 

City, the City shall use good faith to give at least thirty (30) days written notice of the same to 

Sanitation Solutions; unless circumstances require an earlier termination or cancellation date in the 

reasonable determination of the City in order to avoid disruption of services to its citizens (for 

example, but not limited to, in the event of abandonment of duties by Sanitation Solutions).  

111



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 11 of 14 

 

Section 11.08 Cancellation 

In the event Sanitation Solutions cancels this Contract for failure of the City to perform its duties 

hereunder, it will notify the City in writing and will continue to provide disposal services in accordance 

with the terms of this Contract for ninety (90) days from the date of such notice.  In no event shall failure 

or refusal of any refuse hauler to pay amounts owed or claimed to be owed to Sanitation Services for 

disposal of waste from outside of the city limits of the City constitute basis for termination of this 

Contract by Sanitation Services.  Furthermore, in no event shall failure or refusal of a commercial refuse 

hauler to pay amounts owed to Sanitation Solutions for disposal of commercial waste from within the city 

limits of the City constitute basis for termination of this Contract by Sanitation Solutions; provided, 

however, in such event, (i) Sanitation Solutions may, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the City, 

refuse to accept commercial waste from a commercial refuse hauler that has failed or refused to pay 

amounts claimed to owed, and (ii) such refusal shall not constitute default by Sanitation Solutions.   

Section 11.09 Notice 

Whenever the Contract requires written notice to be provide such notice should be delivered by U.S. mail 

or hand delivery to the following addresses: 

Notice to the City: 

City Manager 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

P.O. Box 2711 

Texarkana, Arkansas 75504 

 

Notice to Sanitation Solutions, Inc. 

President / Owner 

Sanitation Solutions 

1806 South Church 

Paris, TX 75461 

 

Witness the execution hereof in duplicate, this ___ day of ___________________, ________. 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

By:  

Dr. Kenny Haskin, 

City Manager 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

 

_________________________________ 

Signature 

By:  

Mr. Josh Bray, 

President / Owner 

Sanitation Solutions, Inc. 

       

112



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 12 of 14 

 

      _________________________________ 

      Signature  

113



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 13 of 14 

 

Attachment A: Pricing Sheet – Blossom Prairie Landfill Site 

Throughout the five-year Contract period, Sanitation Solutions is hereby authorized to charge fees for 

disposal services provided in the submitted RFP as follows: 

Cost Basis      Disposal Charge 

Per Ton Compacted          $16.00 

Per ton Uncompacted         $16.00  

Per Ton Sludge – With TCEQ Approval       $20.00 

Per Ton (Tires) – Tires must be Quartered & Manifested     $20.00 

Per Ton (Street Sweepings)        $16.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

114



CONTRACT FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES – LANDFILL 

FOR THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

Page 14 of 14 

 

Attachment B: Proposal Submittal 

See attached proposal from Sanitation Solutions Inc. 

 

115



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend the 

residential hauler contracts with Edmondson’s Trash Service and 

Richardson Waste Inc. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards 

AGENDA DATE: 04/15/2019 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works Department 

PREPARED BY: Tracie Lee, Assistant Public Works Director 

REQUEST: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend the 

residential hauler contracts with Edmondson’s Trash Service and 

Richardson Waste Inc. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: This item will be approved by a resolution; therefore, it will not need an 

emergency clause. 

SUMMARY: The City’s landfill contract with Waste Management expires on April 

30
th

.  Due to this the City advertised for request for proposals (RFP) for 

solid waste disposal services on March 3, 2019.    

With the lowest rate being submitted by Sanitation Solutions Inc. the 

City’s residential hauler contracts will need to be amended as such. 

Section (8) removing “Residential garbage is currently transported to 

and disposed of in accordance with the City's disposal contract with 

Western Waste Industries utilizing the New Boston Landfill” and 

replacing it with “Residential garbage is currently transported to and 

disposed of in accordance with the landfill under contract with the 

City.” 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0.00 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $0.00 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0.00 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

City Manager and staff recommend board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution 

 

116



RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 WHEREAS, each of the existing agreements executed in 2009, by and between 

the City and the respective entities currently providing residential waste collection 

services contain the following provision: 

(8) All waste collected under this contract shall be disposed of as specified by the 

City. The City reserves the right for the City Manager to change the location to 

which waste is transported and disposed of at any time with thirty (30) days 

written notice. Residential garbage is currently transported to and disposed of in 

accordance with the City's disposal contract with Western Waste Industries 

utilizing the New Boston Landfill. Yard waste is transported to and disposed of at 

either the City Compost Site at the South Regional Wastewater Treatment 

Facility, the New Boston Landfill, or other locations as specified by the City 

Manager. . . . 

WHEREAS, the City has made arrangements to utilize a landfill and enter into an 

agreement with a landfill operator to provide for residential waste disposal at a site other 

than the site referenced in the above as the site “currently” utilized in 2009; and 

WHEREAS, to memorialize the change in site for transport and disposal of 

residential waste, the City Manager requests authority to enter into an amendment of each 

of the existing contracts with residential waste collection service providers to 

memorialize that, effective May 1, 2019, the landfill operator under contract with the city 

for residential waste disposal will be Sanitation Solutions, Inc., and the landfill utilized 

will be said operator’s landfill in Lamar County, Texas;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into 

amendments to each of the contracts between the city and its residential waste haulers for 

the purpose above. 

117



PASSED AND APPROVED this 15
th

 day of April, 2019. 

  

_____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 ________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

  

 

APPROVED: 

 

 ________________________________ 

George Matteson, City Attorney 

 

118



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: An Ordinance Amending the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Code of 

Ordinances, Solid Waste Ordinance Sec. 22-28 – Disposal of 

Commercial Solid Waste, Sec. 22-30 – Proof of Landfill Disposal by 

Commercial Haulers and Sec. 22-31 - Penalty for Disposal of Solid 

Waste at a Landfill Not Under Contract with the City. (PWD) Public 

Works Director Tyler Richards 

This ordinance requires an emergency clause: An emergency clause 

requires a separate and distinct vote of the board and is valid only if 

there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the board. (Hdbk. Const. 

Amend 7) 

AGENDA DATE: 04/15/2019 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☒  Resolution☐  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works Department 

PREPARED BY: Tracie Lee, Assistant Public Works Director 

REQUEST: Amendment to Sec. 22-28 of the Solid Waste Ordinance, adding Sec. 22-

30 – Proof of Landfill Disposal by Commercial Haulers and Sec. 22-31 - 

Penalty for Disposal of Solid Waste at a Landfill Not Under Contract 

with the City. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: This item will require an emergency clause. 

SUMMARY: The City’s landfill contract with Waste Management expires on April 

30
th

. Due to this the City advertised for request for proposals (RFP) for 

solid waste disposal services on March 3, 2019. 

With the lowest rate being submitted by Sanitation Solutions Inc. the 

City’s solid waste ordinance will need to be amended as such. 

o Sec. 22-28. - Disposal of commercial solid waste. 

All commercial collection contractors collecting garbage, trash or other 

solid waste within the city shall deliver said waste to the landfill under 

contract with the City and the disposal fee shall be the same rate 

provided in the City’s landfill contract for all commercial collection 

contractors.  

All commercial collection contractors shall charge commercial 

establishments the commercial collection rates provided for herein and 

any commercial collection contractor who fails to charge said rates shall 

forfeit his right to collect and haul garbage, trash or other solid waste 

119



from commercial establishments and his license shall be revoked.  

o Sec. 22-30. – Proof of landfill disposal by commercial haulers. 

All Commercial collection contractors collecting garbage, trash or other 

solid waste within the city shall provide the City with proof of waste 

being disposed at the landfill under contract with the City.  Proof shall be 

in the form of landfill bills or tonnage tickets from the landfill operator. 

o Sec. 22-31 – Penalty for disposal of solid waste at a landfill not 

under contract with the City.                                                                             

Any commercial collection contractor collecting garbage, trash or other 

solid waste that does not dispose of said waste at the landfill under 

contract with the City shall lose its privilege to collect solid waste within 

the City. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0.00 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $0.00 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0.00 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

City Manager and staff recommend board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Ordinance. 

 

 

  

 

120



ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 22-28 

AND ADOPTING SECTIONS 22-30 AND 22-31 OF 

THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS, CODE OF 

ORDINANCES AS RELATE TO COMMERCIAL 

SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL BY COMMERCIAL 

COLLECTION CONTRACTORS; DECLARING AN 

EMERGENCY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, the City is entering into an agreement effective May 1, 2019, which 

will provide for a different solid waste disposal site to be utilized by waste collection 

contractors operating in the City, including, without limitation, commercial collection 

contractors; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with such change, it is necessary to amend and adopt 

certain ordinances providing for the disposal, proof of disposal and associated penalties 

as relate to disposal of commercial solid waste; and 

WHEREAS, the City Manager and staff recommend such amendment and 

adoption;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Directors of the 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, that: 

 

SECTION 1.  The first paragraph of Section 22-28 of City of Texarkana, 

Arkansas, Code of Ordinances (the “Code”) for the City of Texarkana is deleted and the 

following is substituted therefore: 

All commercial collection contractors collecting garbage, trash or other solid 

waste within the city shall deliver said waste to the landfill under contract with the 

City and the disposal fee shall be paid by the commercial collection contractors to 

such landfill contractor.  

 SECTION 2.  The Code is further amended to add the following provision as 

Section 22-30:  

Sec. 22-30. – Proof of landfill disposal by commercial haulers. 

121



All Commercial collection contractors collecting garbage, trash or other solid 

waste within the city shall provide the City with proof of waste being disposed at 

the landfill under contract with the City.  Proof shall be in the form of landfill 

bills or tonnage tickets from the landfill operator. 

 SECTION 3.  The Code is further amended to add the following provision as 

Section 22-31:  

Sec. 22-31 – Penalty for disposal of solid waste at a landfill not under 

contract with the City.                                                                             

Any commercial collection contractor collecting garbage, trash or other solid 

waste that does not dispose of said waste at the landfill under contract with the 

City shall lose its privilege to collect solid waste within the City.  

SECTION 4.  This ordinance being necessary for the preservation of the public 

peace, health and safety, and, specifically, to provide for amendment to coincide with the 

change in location of solid waste disposal, an emergency is therefore declared to exist; 

and this ordinance shall be in full force and effect on May 1, 2019. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 15
th

 day of April, 2019. 

 

_____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

________________________________ 

George M. Matteson  

122


	Top
	1. Proclamation Supporting City’s participation in the National Historic Preservation Month presented to City Planner Mary Beck.
	2. Approval of minutes of the regular meeting April 1, 2019
	04152019_ccd_minutes.docx
	04012019_minutes.docx

	3. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to contract with Sanitation Solutions
	item_2_04152019_Saniation Solutions.docx
	item_2_04152019_Resolution_Sanitatin Solutions.docx
	Rate Comparison For Five Year Period.pdf
	RFP - Waste Disposal Services 2019.pdf
	item_3_04152019_Proposal Sanitation Solutions.pdf
	City Manager Landfill Proposals.pdf
	DRAFT SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL CONTRACT - LANDFILL.pdf

	4. Amendment to the Residential Hauler Contracts
	item_4_04152019_Resident. Hauler Contracts.docx
	item_4_04152019_Resolution_Hauler.docx

	5. Amendment to the Solid Waste Ordinance
	item_4_04152019_Solid Waste.docx
	item_5_04152019_Ordinance_Solid Waste.docx

	Bottom

